

House Bill 99 (AS PASSED HOUSE AND SENATE)

By: Representative Smith of the 134th

A BILL TO BE ENTITLED
AN ACT

1 To amend Title 33 of the Official Code of Georgia Annotated, relating to insurance, so as to
2 provide for modernization and updates; to amend various provisions for purposes of
3 conformity; to extensively revise Chapter 41, relating to captive insurance companies; to
4 provide for definitions; to provide for the use of a registered agent to receive service of
5 process; to provide for sponsored captive insurance companies; to provide for letters of
6 credit; to provide for filings and notifications to the Commissioner; to provide for effective
7 dates; to provide for establishment and maintenance of protected cells; to provide for certain
8 protected cell requirements at the discretion of the Commissioner; to provide for authority;
9 to provide for conservation, rehabilitation, or liquidation requirements and exceptions; to
10 provide for applicability of the Special Insurance Fraud Fund; to provide for related matters;
11 to repeal conflicting laws; and for other purposes.

12 BE IT ENACTED BY THE GENERAL ASSEMBLY OF GEORGIA:

13 style="text-align:center">**PART I**
14 style="text-align:center">**SECTION 1-1.**

15 Title 33 of the Official Code of Georgia Annotated, relating to insurance, is amended by
16 revising Code Section 33-40-21, relating to rules, as follows:

17 "33-40-21.

18 ~~The Commissioner may establish and from time to time amend such rules relating to risk~~
19 ~~retention groups as may be necessary or desirable to carry out the provisions of this~~
20 ~~chapter. Reserved.~~"

21 style="text-align:center">**SECTION 1-2.**

22 Said title is further amended by revising Code Section 33-41-20.1, relating to membership
23 of captive insurance companies in Georgia Insurers Insolvency Pool, as follows:

24 "33-41-20.1.

25 (a) ~~On and after January 1, 2008, every~~ Every association and industrial insured captive
 26 insurance company issuing workers' compensation insurance contracts shall become a
 27 member of the Georgia Insurers Insolvency Pool under Chapter 36 of this title as to
 28 workers' compensation only. Such captive insurance companies shall be liable for
 29 assessments pursuant to Code Section 33-36-7 and for all other obligations imposed
 30 pursuant to Chapter 36 of this title as to workers' compensation only.

31 (b) Except as provided for in Code Section 33-36-20, the Georgia Insurers Insolvency Pool
 32 shall not be liable for any claims incurred by any captive insurance company before
 33 January 1, 2008."

34 **SECTION 1-3.**

35 Said title is further amended by revising Code Section 33-42-3, relating to applicability of
 36 chapter, as follows:

37 "33-42-3.

38 The requirements of this chapter shall apply to long-term care insurance policies issued,
 39 delivered, or issued for delivery in this state ~~on or after July 1, 1988~~. This chapter is not
 40 intended to supersede the obligations of entities subject to this chapter to comply with the
 41 substance of other applicable provisions of this title insofar as they do not conflict with this
 42 chapter, except that laws and regulations designed and intended to apply to medicare
 43 supplement insurance policies shall not be applied to long-term care insurance. A policy
 44 which is not advertised, marketed, or offered as long-term care insurance need not meet the
 45 requirements of this chapter."

46 **SECTION 1-4.**

47 Said title is further amended by revising Code Section 33-42-4, relating to definitions, as
 48 follows:

49 "33-42-4.

50 As used in this chapter, the term:

51 (1) 'Applicant' means:

52 (A) In the case of an individual long-term care insurance policy, the person who seeks
 53 to contract for such benefits; and

54 (B) In the case of a group long-term care insurance policy, the proposed certificate
 55 holder.

56 (2) 'Certificate' means any certificate issued under a group long-term care insurance
 57 policy, which policy has been delivered or issued for delivery in this state.

58 (3) ~~'Commissioner' means the Commissioner of Insurance of this state.~~

59 ~~(4)~~(3) 'Group long-term care insurance' means a long-term care insurance policy which
 60 is issued, delivered, or issued for delivery in this state and issued to:

61 (A) Any eligible group as defined in Code Section 33-30-1; or

62 (B) A group other than as described in Code Section 33-30-1, subject to a finding by
 63 the Commissioner that:

64 (i) The issuance of the group policy is not contrary to the best interest of the public;

65 (ii) The issuance of the group policy would result in economies of acquisition or
 66 administration; and

67 (iii) The benefits are reasonable in relation to the premiums charged.

68 ~~(5)~~(4) 'Long-term care insurance' means any accident and sickness insurance policy or
 69 rider advertised, marketed, offered, or designed primarily to provide coverage for not less
 70 than 12 consecutive benefit months or which provides coverage for recurring
 71 confinements separated by a period not to exceed six months with a minimum aggregate
 72 period of one year for each covered person on an expense incurred, indemnity, prepaid,
 73 or other basis, for one or more necessary or medically necessary diagnostic, preventive,
 74 therapeutic, rehabilitative, maintenance, or personal care services, provided in a setting
 75 other than an acute care unit of a hospital. Such term includes group and individual
 76 accident and sickness policies or riders whether issued by insurers, fraternal benefit
 77 societies, health care plans, health maintenance organizations, or any other similar
 78 organizations. Long-term care insurance shall not include any accident and sickness
 79 insurance policy which is offered primarily to provide basic medicare supplement
 80 coverage, basic hospital expense coverage, basic medical-surgical expense coverage,
 81 hospital confinement indemnity coverage, major medical expense coverage, disability
 82 income protection coverage, catastrophic coverage, comprehensive coverage, accident
 83 only coverage, specified disease or specified accident coverage, or limited benefit health
 84 coverage. Long-term care insurance may be provided through an individual or group life
 85 insurance policy by attachment of a long-term care rider or by the automatic inclusion of
 86 a long-term care provision which, notwithstanding Code Section 33-42-3, must meet the
 87 requirements of this chapter and regulations promulgated by the Commissioner. Any
 88 such long-term care riders or policy provisions shall not be exempt from filing
 89 requirements and must be filed with the department for approval before being used in this
 90 state.

91 ~~(6)~~(5) 'Policy' means any policy, contract, or subscriber agreement or any rider or
 92 endorsement attached thereto, issued, delivered, issued for delivery, or renewed in this
 93 state by an insurer, fraternal benefit society, health care plan, health maintenance
 94 organization, or any other similar organization. Such term shall also include a Georgia
 95 Qualified Long-term Care Partnership Program approved policy, as defined in paragraph

96 (4) of Code Section 49-4-161, meeting the requirements of the Georgia Qualified
 97 Long-term Care Partnership Program as enacted in subsection (a) of Code Section
 98 49-4-162."

99 **SECTION 1-5.**

100 Said title is further amended by revising Code Section 33-42-5, relating to group policy
 101 issued in another state, as follows:

102 "33-42-5.

103 No group long-term care insurance coverage may be offered to a resident of this state under
 104 a group policy issued in another state to a group described in subparagraph (B) of
 105 paragraph ~~(4)~~(3) of Code Section 33-42-4 unless this state or another state having statutory
 106 and regulatory long-term care insurance requirements substantially similar to those adopted
 107 in this state has made a determination that such requirements have been met."

108 **SECTION 1-6.**

109 Said title is further amended by revising Code Section 33-42-7, relating to regulations, as
 110 follows:

111 "33-42-7.

112 ~~Regulations adopted pursuant to this chapter shall be in accordance with the provisions of~~
 113 ~~Chapter 2 of this title. Reserved.~~"

114 **SECTION 1-7.**

115 Said title is further amended in Code Section 33-43-2, relating to applicability of chapter, by
 116 revising subsection (a) as follows:

117 "(a) Except as otherwise specifically provided, this chapter shall apply to:

118 (1) All medicare supplement policies delivered or issued for delivery in this state ~~on or~~
 119 ~~after July 1, 2000~~; and

120 (2) All certificates issued under group medicare supplement policies, which certificates
 121 have been delivered or issued for delivery in this state."

122 **SECTION 1-8.**

123 Said title is further amended in Code Section 33-43-3, relating to duplicate benefits
 124 prohibited and establishment of standards, by revising subsection (h) as follows:

125 "(h) Persons may enroll in a medicare supplement policy at any time authorized or required
 126 by the federal government or within six months of:

- 127 (1) Enrolling in medicare Part B ~~or by May 1, 2011~~, for an individual who is under 65
 128 years of age and is eligible for medicare because of disability or end-stage renal disease,
 129 whichever is later;
- 130 (2) Receiving notice that such person has been retroactively enrolled in medicare Part
 131 B due to a retroactive eligibility decision made by the Social Security Administration; or
- 132 (3) Experiencing a qualifying event identified in regulations adopted pursuant to
 133 subsection (c) of this Code section."

134 **SECTION 1-9.**

135 Said title is further amended by repealing Chapter 44, relating to High Risk Health Insurance
 136 Plan, and designating said chapter as reserved.

137 **SECTION 1-10.**

138 Said title is further amended by revising Code Section 33-45-7.1, relating to provider
 139 authorized to offer continuing care when resident purchases owned living unit, as follows:
 140 "33-45-7.1.

141 A provider which has obtained a certificate of authority pursuant to Code Section 33-45-5
 142 and the written approval of the ~~commissioner~~ Commissioner is authorized to offer, as a part
 143 of the continuing care agreement, continuing care at home or continuing care in which the
 144 resident purchases a resident owned living unit, subject to the provisions of Chapters 6 and
 145 7 of Title 31 and rules and regulations promulgated by the Department of Community
 146 Health pursuant to such chapters relating to certificate of need and licensure requirements."

147 **SECTION 1-11.**

148 Said title is further amended in Code Section 33-45-11, relating to maintaining financial
 149 reserves and requirements, by revising subsection (b) as follows:

150 "(b) A provider or facility which has opened but not yet achieved full occupancy, as
 151 defined by its lender or financing documents, if any, or 95 percent occupancy of its
 152 residential units; or a provider or facility that has received a certificate of authority and has
 153 been in conformance with the provisions of this chapter ~~prior to July 1, 2011~~, shall be
 154 required to achieve the level of financial reserves required by subsection (a) of this Code
 155 section as follows:

- 156 (1) The provider or facility shall submit a plan to the Commissioner the terms of which
 157 assure that the provider or facility shall maintain sufficient progress to achieving the level
 158 of financial reserves required by this Code section; and
- 159 (2) The plan demonstrates that the provider or facility is substantially likely to achieve
 160 the required level of financial reserves within five years of opening ~~or for existing~~

161 ~~facilities that received a certificate of authority and have been in conformance with the~~
 162 ~~provisions of this chapter prior to July 1, 2011, within five years of July 1, 2011. For~~
 163 ~~purposes of this paragraph, the term 'substantially likely' means a provider or facility shall~~
 164 ~~meet the level of financial reserves required by paragraph (1) of this subsection (a) of this~~
 165 ~~Code section~~ at a minimum rate of 20 percent per year as of the end of each fiscal year
 166 ~~after the later of the date the facility opens or July 1, 2011, up to a total of 100 percent as~~
 167 ~~of the end of the fifth fiscal year."~~

168 SECTION 1-12.

169 Said title is further amended in Code Section 33-50-5, relating to minimum surplus, capital
 170 requirements, security deposit, annual audit, aggregate excess stop-loss coverage, and
 171 individual excess stop-loss coverage, by revising subsections (e), (f), and (i) as follows:

172 "(e) Every multiple employer self-insured health plan licensed pursuant to this chapter
 173 shall have an annual audit by an independent certified public accountant in accordance with
 174 Georgia Insurance Department of Insurance Regulation 120-2-60 and instructions
 175 prescribed by the National Association of Insurance Commissioners.

176 (f) Every multiple employer self-insured health plan shall file financial statements with the
 177 Commissioner in accordance with the provisions of Georgia Insurance Department of
 178 Insurance Regulation 120-2-18-.06."

179 ~~"(i) A multiple employer self-insured health plan licensed before January 1, 2010, shall~~
 180 ~~have until December 31, 2011, to comply with the provisions of this Code section.~~
 181 ~~Reserved."~~

182 SECTION 1-13.

183 Said title is further amended by revising Code Section 33-50-13, relating to date when filings
 184 due, as follows:

185 "33-50-13.

186 All multiple employer self-insured health plans who have member employees in this state
 187 ~~as of July 1, 1991, shall have until October 1, 1991, to make all filings necessary to comply~~
 188 ~~with this chapter."~~

189 SECTION 1-14.

190 Said title is further amended in Code Section 33-51-3, relating to development of guidelines,
 191 promotion by Commissioner, and authority of Commissioner, by revising subsection (e) as
 192 follows:

193 ~~"(e) The Commissioner shall be authorized to promulgate such rules and regulations as he~~
 194 ~~or she deems necessary and appropriate for the design, promotion, and regulation of health~~

195 ~~savings account eligible high deductible plans, including rules and regulations for the~~
 196 ~~expedited review of standardized policies, advertisements and solicitations, and other~~
 197 ~~matters deemed relevant by the Commissioner. Reserved."~~

198 **SECTION 1-15.**

199 Said title is further amended by revising Code Section 33-53-1, relating to definitions, as
 200 follows:

201 "33-53-1.

202 As used in this chapter:

203 ~~(1) 'Commissioner' means the Commissioner of Insurance of the State of Georgia.~~

204 ~~(2)~~(1) 'Drug' means a drug or biologic that is used in an antineoplastic regimen.

205 ~~(3)~~(2) 'Insurance policy' means an individual accident and sickness policy of insurance
 206 issued pursuant to Chapter 29 of this title or a group accident and sickness insurance
 207 policy issued pursuant to Chapter 30 of this title.

208 ~~(4)~~(3) 'Standard reference compendium' means any of the following:

209 (A) The United States Pharmacopeia Drug Information;

210 (B) The American Medical Association Drug Evaluations;

211 (C) The American Hospital Formulary Service Drug Information."

212 **SECTION 1-16.**

213 Said title is further amended by revising Code Section 33-53-3, relating to enforcement, as
 214 follows:

215 "33-53-3.

216 ~~The Commissioner is authorized to enforce the provisions of this chapter. Reserved."~~

217 **SECTION 1-17.**

218 Said title is further amended in Code Section 33-54-2, relating to definitions, by revising
 219 paragraph (2) as follows:

220 "(2) 'Insurer' means an insurer, a fraternal benefit society, ~~a nonprofit medical service~~
 221 ~~corporation~~, a health care corporation, a health maintenance corporation, or a self-insured
 222 health plan not subject to the exclusive jurisdiction of the Employee Retirement Income
 223 Security Act of 1974, 29 U.S.C. Section 1001, et seq."

224 **SECTION 1-18.**

225 Said title is further amended in Code Section 33-55-1, relating to insurers to report
 226 acquisitions and dispositions of assets and material changes to ceded reinsurance agreements
 227 to Commissioner, by revising subsection (b) as follows:

228 "(b)(1) The report required in subsection (a) of this Code section is due within 15 days
229 after the end of the calendar month in which any of the covered transactions occur.

230 (2) One complete copy of the report, including any exhibits or other attachments filed
231 as part thereof, shall be filed with:

232 (A) The Commissioner of Insurance; and

233 (B) The National Association of Insurance Commissioners."

234 **SECTION 1-19.**

235 Said title is further amended by revising Code Section 33-56-9, relating to chapter
236 supplemental to other laws and exemption for certain domestic property and casualty
237 insurance, as follows:

238 "33-56-9.

239 (a) The provisions of this chapter are supplemental to any other provisions of the laws of
240 this state and shall not preclude or limit any other powers or duties of the Commissioner
241 under such laws, including, but not limited to, Chapters 2, 3, 13, 14, ~~18, 19~~, 20, 21, and 37
242 of this title.

243 ~~(b) The Commissioner may adopt reasonable rules necessary for the implementation of
244 this chapter.~~

245 ~~(c)~~(b) The Commissioner may exempt from the application of this chapter any domestic
246 property and casualty insurer which:

247 (1) Meets all three of the following criteria:

248 (A) Writes direct business only in this state;

249 (B) Writes direct annual premiums of \$2 million or less; and

250 (C) Assumes no reinsurance in excess of 5 percent of direct premium written; or

251 (2) Demonstrates to the satisfaction of the Commissioner by other means that preparation
252 and submission of an RBC report would create an unusual and unnecessary hardship or
253 would result in a report which is ambiguous or misleading based upon the unique nature
254 of the company's product offerings or financial structure.

255 ~~(d)~~(c) The Commissioner may exempt from the application of this chapter any health
256 organization which:

257 (1) Has less than 1,000 covered lives; and

258 (2) Has less than \$1 million in direct written premiums."

259 **SECTION 1-20.**

260 Said title is further amended by revising Code Section 33-56-11, relating to immunity of
261 Commissioner and department, as follows:

262 "33-56-11.

263 There shall be no liability on the part of, and no cause of action shall arise against, the
264 Commissioner or the insurance department or its employees or agents for any action taken
265 by them in the performance of their powers and duties under this chapter."

266 **SECTION 1-21.**

267 Said title is further amended by revising Code Section 33-56-12, relating to severability, and
268 designating said Code section as reserved, as follows:

269 "33-56-12.

270 ~~In the event any section, subsection, sentence, clause, or phrase of this chapter shall be~~
271 ~~declared or adjudged invalid or unconstitutional, such adjudication shall in no manner~~
272 ~~affect the other sections, subsections, sentences, clauses, or phrases of this chapter, which~~
273 ~~shall remain of full force and effect as if the section, subsection, sentence, clause, or phrase~~
274 ~~so declared or adjudged invalid or unconstitutional were not originally a part of this~~
275 ~~chapter. The General Assembly declares that it would have passed the remaining parts of~~
276 ~~this chapter if it had known that such part or parts of this chapter would be declared or~~
277 ~~adjudged invalid or unconstitutional. Reserved.~~"

278 **SECTION 1-22.**

279 Said title is further amended in Code Section 33-58-4, relating to notice of annuity to
280 Commissioner, by revising subsection (a) as follows:

281 "(a) A charitable organization that issues qualified charitable gift annuities shall notify the
282 Commissioner in writing by the ~~later of October 1, 2000, or the date on which it enters into~~
283 ~~the organization's first qualified charitable gift annuity agreement. The notice shall:~~

284 (1) Be signed by an officer or director of the organization;

285 (2) Identify the organization; and

286 (3) Certify that:

287 (A) The organization is a charitable organization; and

288 (B) The annuities issued by the organization are qualified charitable gift annuities."

289 **SECTION 1-23.**

290 Said title is further amended in Code Section 33-59-11, relating to required documents and
291 information, confidentiality, seller's right to rescind, escrow proceedings, failure to tender
292 consideration, and limitation on contracts with the insured for the purpose of determining the
293 insured's health status, by revising subsection (f) as follows:

294 "(f) If a life settlement broker performs those verification of coverage activities required
 295 of the provider, the provider is deemed to have fulfilled the requirements of subsection (a)
 296 of Code Section ~~33-5-9~~ 33-59-9."

297 **SECTION 1-24.**

298 Said title is further amended by revising Code Section 33-59-12, relating to promulgation of
 299 regulations and determining governing law when multiple owners, as follows:

300 "33-59-12.

301 ~~(a) The Commissioner may promulgate regulations implementing this chapter and~~
 302 ~~regulating the activities and relationships of providers, life settlement brokers, insurers, and~~
 303 ~~their agents subject to statutory limitations on administrative rule making.~~

304 ~~(b)(1)(a)~~ If there is more than one owner on a single policy, and the owners are residents
 305 of different states, the life settlement contract shall be governed by the law of the state in
 306 which the owner having the largest percentage ownership resides or, if the owners hold
 307 equal ownership, the state of residence of one owner agreed upon in writing by all of the
 308 owners. The law of the state of the insured shall govern in the event that equal owners fail
 309 to agree in writing upon a state of residence for jurisdictional purposes.

310 ~~(2)(b)~~ A provider from this state who enters into a life settlement contract with an owner
 311 who is a resident of another state that has enacted statutes or adopted regulations governing
 312 life settlement contracts shall be governed in the effectuation of that life settlement contract
 313 by the statutes and regulations of the owner's state of residence. If the state in which the
 314 owner is a resident has not enacted statutes or regulations governing life settlement
 315 contracts, the provider shall give the owner notice that neither state regulates the
 316 transaction upon which he or she is entering. For transactions in those states, however, the
 317 provider is to maintain all records required if the transactions were executed in the state of
 318 residence. The forms used in those states need not be approved by the Commissioner.

319 ~~(3)(c)~~ If there is a conflict in the laws that apply to an owner and a purchaser in any
 320 individual transaction, the laws of the state that apply to the owner shall take precedence
 321 and the provider shall comply with those laws."

322 **SECTION 1-25.**

323 Said title is further amended by revising Code Section 33-59-18, relating to transacting
 324 business permitted while the provider's license application is pending, as follows:

325 "33-59-18.

326 ~~(a) A provider lawfully transacting business in this state prior to July 1, 2009, may~~
 327 ~~continue to do so pending approval or disapproval of that person's application for a license~~
 328 ~~so long as the application is filed with the Commissioner not later than 30 days after~~

329 ~~publication by the Commissioner of an application form and instructions for licensure of~~
 330 ~~providers. If the publication of the application form and instructions is prior to July 1,~~
 331 ~~2009, then the filing of the application shall not be later than August 1, 2009. During the~~
 332 ~~time that such an application is pending with the Commissioner, the applicant may use any~~
 333 ~~form of life settlement contract that has been filed with the Commissioner pending~~
 334 ~~approval thereof, provided that such form is otherwise in compliance with the provisions~~
 335 ~~of this chapter. Any person transacting business in this state under this provision shall be~~
 336 ~~obligated to comply with all other requirements of this chapter.~~

337 ~~(b) A person who has lawfully negotiated life settlement contracts between any owner~~
 338 ~~residing in this state and one or more providers for at least one year immediately prior to~~
 339 ~~July 1, 2009, may continue to do so pending approval or disapproval of that person's~~
 340 ~~application for a license so long as the application is filed with the Commissioner not later~~
 341 ~~than 30 days after publication by the Commissioner of an application form and instructions~~
 342 ~~for registration of life settlement brokers. If the publication of the application form and~~
 343 ~~instructions is prior to July 1, 2009, then the filing of the application shall not be later than~~
 344 ~~August 1, 2009. Any person transacting business in this state under this provision shall be~~
 345 ~~obligated to comply with all other requirements of this chapter. Reserved."~~

346 **SECTION 1-26.**

347 Said title is further amended by revising Code Section 33-60-2, relating to legislative intent,
 348 as follows:

349 "33-60-2.

350 The General Assembly recognizes the need for employers and individuals in this state to
 351 have the opportunity to choose among group and individual health insurance plans that are
 352 more affordable and flexible than standard market policies of accident and sickness
 353 insurance and the need to increase the availability of health insurance coverage by
 354 authorizing the transaction of this type of plan or policy by accident and sickness insurers
 355 licensed to transact business in this state. This chapter shall require insurers which provide
 356 major medical coverage to offer policies that contain all state mandated health benefits as
 357 well as policies that contain the limited selection of state mandated health benefits set forth
 358 in Code Section 33-60-3; provided, however, that, ~~on and after July 1, 2005,~~ employees in
 359 group plans or individuals may choose pursuant to this chapter among new health insurance
 360 plans offered by insurers that either include all state mandated health benefits or include
 361 the limited state mandated health benefits set forth in Code Section 33-60-3."

362 **SECTION 1-27.**

363 Said title is further amended in Code Section 33-60-3, relating to definitions, by revising
364 paragraph (3) as follows:

365 "(3) 'Insurer' means any insurer or nonprofit organization authorized to sell accident and
366 sickness policies, subscriber contracts, certificates, or agreements of any form under
367 Chapters 15, ~~18, 19~~, 20, 21, 29, and 30 of this title."

368 **SECTION 1-28.**

369 Said title is further amended in Code Section 33-60-4, relating to requirements for insurers
370 and employers, sale by health maintenance organizations permitted, and purchase of
371 additional coverage permitted, by revising subsections (a) and (b) as follows:

372 "~~(a) Notwithstanding any other provision of law and on and after July 1, 2005:~~

373 (1) Any insurer authorized to transact business in this state offering group accident and
374 sickness policies or contracts shall be required to offer, through a licensed agent or
375 agency, a group health benefit plan that contains all state mandated health benefits and
376 may offer a group alternative health benefit plan as defined in this chapter; and

377 (2) Any insurer authorized to transact business in this state offering individual accident
378 and sickness policies or contracts shall be required to offer, through a licensed agent or
379 agency, an individual health benefit plan that contains all state mandated health benefits
380 and may offer an individual alternative health benefit plan as defined in this chapter.

381 ~~(b) On and after July 1, 2005, an~~ An employer who chooses to offer group health benefit
382 plans to its employees shall offer to each eligible employee a group health benefit plan that
383 contains all state mandated health benefits and may offer to each eligible employee a group
384 alternative health benefit plan as defined in this chapter."

385 **SECTION 1-29.**

386 Said title is further amended in Code Section 33-60-5, relating to required notice and
387 acknowledgment, by revising subsection (b) as follows:

388 "(b) An acknowledgment separate from the notice and application provided for in
389 subsection (a) of this Code section shall be provided to and completed by each individual
390 policyholder or individual group member. Such acknowledgment shall contain a
391 comparison of the benefits contained in each of the health benefit plan options being
392 offered to the individual policyholder or individual group member. ~~The Commissioner~~
393 ~~shall promulgate such rules and regulations as he or she deems necessary to implement this~~
394 ~~subsection including rules and regulations concerning the form and contents of such~~
395 ~~acknowledgment.~~ In the case of group health benefit plans being offered by an employer,

396 a copy of the acknowledgment for each individual group member shall be maintained by
397 the employer."

398 **SECTION 1-30.**

399 Said title is further amended by revising Code Section 33-60-6, relating to authority of the
400 Commissioner with respect to this chapter, as follows:

401 "33-60-6.

402 ~~The Commissioner of Insurance may promulgate rules and regulations as necessary to~~
403 ~~implement the provisions of this chapter and specify the information to be contained on the~~
404 ~~forms supplied by insurers of these policies and contracts to individual group members and~~
405 ~~policyholders. Reserved.~~"

406 **SECTION 1-31.**

407 Said title is further amended in Code Section 33-61-1, relating to definitions, by revising
408 paragraph (3) as follows:

409 "(3) ~~'Commissioner'~~ shall mean the Commissioner of Insurance of the State of Georgia.
410 Reserved."

411 **SECTION 1-32.**

412 Said title is further amended by revising Code Section 33-63-1, relating to legislative
413 findings, as follows:

414 "33-63-1.

415 The General Assembly finds that guaranteed asset protection waivers are not insurance.
416 All guaranteed asset protection waivers issued on or after the date of enactment of this
417 chapter shall not be construed as insurance."

418 **SECTION 1-33.**

419 Said title is further amended by revising Code Section 33-63-9, relating to Commissioner of
420 Insurance to enforce provisions and penalty for violations, as follows:

421 "33-63-9.

422 ~~The Commissioner of Insurance~~ may take action which is necessary or appropriate to
423 enforce the provisions of this chapter and to protect guaranteed asset protection waiver
424 holders in this state. After proper notice and opportunity for hearing, the ~~commissioner~~
425 Commissioner may:

426 (1) Order the creditor, administrator, or any other person not in compliance with this
427 chapter to cease and desist from further guaranteed asset protection waiver related
428 operations which are in violation of this chapter; and

429 (2) Impose a penalty of not more than \$500.00 per violation and not more than
 430 \$10,000.00 in the aggregate for all violations of a similar nature. For purposes of this
 431 paragraph, violations must be of a similar nature if the violation consists of the same or
 432 similar course of conduct, action, or practice, irrespective of the number of times the
 433 conduct, action, or practice which is determined to be a violation of this chapter
 434 occurred."

435 **SECTION 1-34.**

436 Said title is further amended by revising Code Section 33-64-1, relating to definitions, as
 437 follows:

438 "33-64-1.

439 As used in this chapter, the term:

440 (1) 'Business entity' means a corporation, association, partnership, sole proprietorship,
 441 limited liability company, limited liability partnership, or other legal entity.

442 ~~(2) 'Commissioner' means the Commissioner of Insurance.~~

443 ~~(3)~~(2) 'Covered entity' means an employer, labor union, or other group of persons
 444 organized in this state that provides health coverage to covered individuals who are
 445 employed or reside in this state.

446 ~~(4)~~(3) 'Covered individual' means a member, participant, enrollee, contract holder, policy
 447 holder, or beneficiary of a covered entity who is provided health coverage by a covered
 448 entity.

449 ~~(5)~~(4) 'Health system' means a hospital or any other facility or entity owned, operated,
 450 or leased by a hospital and a long-term care home.

451 ~~(6)~~(5) 'Maximum allowable cost' means the per unit amount that a pharmacy benefits
 452 manager reimburses a pharmacist for a prescription drug, excluding dispensing fees and
 453 copayments, coinsurance, or other cost-sharing charges, if any.

454 ~~(7)~~(6) 'Pharmacy' means a pharmacy or pharmacist licensed pursuant to Chapter 4 of
 455 Title 26 or another dispensing provider.

456 ~~(8)~~(7) 'Pharmacy benefits management' means the service provided to a health plan or
 457 covered entity, directly or through another entity, including the procurement of
 458 prescription drugs to be dispensed to patients, or the administration or management of
 459 prescription drug benefits, including, but not limited to, any of the following:

460 (A) Mail order pharmacy;

461 (B) Claims processing, retail network management, or payment of claims to
 462 pharmacies for dispensing prescription drugs;

463 (C) Clinical or other formulary or preferred drug list development or management;

464 (D) Negotiation or administration of rebates, discounts, payment differentials, or other
 465 incentives for the inclusion of particular prescription drugs in a particular category or
 466 to promote the purchase of particular prescription drugs;

467 (E) Patient compliance, therapeutic intervention, or generic substitution programs; and

468 (F) Disease management.

469 ~~(9)~~(8) 'Pharmacy benefits manager' means a person, business entity, or other entity that
 470 performs pharmacy benefits management. The term includes a person or entity acting for
 471 a pharmacy benefits manager in a contractual or employment relationship in the
 472 performance of pharmacy benefits management for a covered entity. The term does not
 473 include services provided by pharmacies operating under a hospital pharmacy license.
 474 The term also does not include health systems while providing pharmacy services for
 475 their patients, employees, or beneficiaries, for indigent care, or for the provision of drugs
 476 for outpatient procedures. The term also does not include services provided by
 477 pharmacies affiliated with a facility licensed under Code Section 31-44-4 or a licensed
 478 group model health maintenance organization with an exclusive medical group contract
 479 and which operates its own pharmacies which are licensed under Code Section 26-4-110."

480 **SECTION 1-35.**

481 Said title is further amended in Code Section 33-64-2, relating to license requirements and
 482 filing fees, by revising subsection (l) as follows:

483 "(l) A pharmacy benefits manager operating as a line of business or affiliate of a health
 484 insurer, health care center, ~~hospital service corporation, medical service corporation,~~ or
 485 fraternal benefit society licensed in this state or of any affiliate of such health insurer,
 486 health care center, ~~hospital service corporation, medical service corporation,~~ or fraternal
 487 benefit society shall not be required to obtain a license pursuant to this chapter. Such
 488 health insurer, health care center, ~~hospital service corporation, medical service corporation,~~
 489 or fraternal benefit society shall notify the Commissioner annually, in writing, on a form
 490 provided by the Commissioner, that it is affiliated with or operating as a line of business
 491 as a pharmacy benefits manager."

492 **PART II**

493 **SECTION 2-1.**

494 Said title is further amended by designating the existing provisions of Chapter 41, relating
 495 to captive insurance companies, as Article 1.

496 **SECTION 2-2.**

497 Said title is further amended by revising Code Section 33-41-2, relating to definitions, as
 498 follows:

499 "33-41-2.

500 Terms not defined in this chapter shall have the same meaning ascribed to them in this title.

501 As used in this chapter, unless the context otherwise requires, the term:

502 (1) 'Affiliate' means any person in the same corporate system as a parent, an industrial
 503 insured, or a member organization by virtue of common ownership, control, operation,
 504 or management.

505 (2) 'Agency captive insurance company' means:

506 (A) Any domestic insurance company granted a certificate of authority pursuant to this
 507 chapter that is owned or controlled by an insurance agency, brokerage, managing
 508 general agent, or reinsurance intermediary, or an affiliate thereof, or under common
 509 ownership or control with such agency, brokerage, managing general agent, or
 510 reinsurance intermediary, and that only reinsures the risk of insurance or annuity
 511 contracts placed by or through such agency, brokerage, managing general agent, or
 512 reinsurance intermediary; or

513 (B) Any domestic insurance company granted a certificate of authority pursuant to this
 514 chapter that is owned or controlled by a marketer, producer, administrator, issuer, or
 515 provider of service contracts or warranties and that only reinsures the contractual
 516 liability arising out of such service contracts or warranties sold through such marketer,
 517 producer, administrator, issuer, or provider.

518 (3) 'Association' means any membership organization whose members consist of a group
 519 of individuals, corporations, partnerships, or other entities or associations who engage in
 520 similar or related professional, trade, or business activities and who collectively own,
 521 control, or hold with power to vote all of the outstanding voting interests of an association
 522 captive insurance company or of a person that is the sole shareholder of an association
 523 captive insurance company.

524 (4) 'Association captive insurance company' means any domestic insurance company
 525 granted a certificate of authority pursuant to this chapter to insure or reinsure the similar
 526 or related risks of members and affiliates of members of its association.

527 (5) 'Captive insurance company' means any pure captive insurance company, association
 528 captive insurance company, agency captive insurance company, industrial insured captive
 529 insurance company, sponsored captive insurance company, or risk retention group captive
 530 insurance company.

531 (6) 'Controlled unaffiliated business' means:

532 (A) Any person:

- 533 (i) That is not in the corporate system of a parent and its affiliated companies;
 534 (ii) That has an existing contractual relationship with a parent or one of its affiliated
 535 companies; and
 536 (iii) Whose risks are managed by a ~~pure~~ captive insurance company in accordance
 537 with this chapter and approved by the Commissioner; or
 538 (B) A reinsurance ~~pooling~~ arrangement with other captive insurance companies that
 539 is approved by the Commissioner.

540 (7) 'Dormant captive insurance company' means a captive insurance company that:

- 541 (A) Has ceased transacting the business of insurance, including the issuance of
 542 insurance policies; and
 543 (B) Has no remaining liabilities associated with insurance business transactions, or
 544 insurance policies issued prior to the filing of its application for a certificate of
 545 dormancy pursuant to this chapter.

546 ~~(7)~~(8) 'Formation documents' means articles of incorporation, if the captive insurance
 547 company or the prospective captive insurance company is a stock insurer, stock
 548 corporation, or a mutual insurer, or articles of organization, if the captive insurance
 549 company or the prospective captive insurance company is a limited liability company,
 550 and any amendments or restatements of the same. For purposes of this term, an
 551 incorporated protected cell, as defined in Article 2 of this chapter, shall be included in the
 552 definition of 'captive insurance company.'

553 ~~(8)~~(9) 'Industrial insured' means an insured:

- 554 (A) Who procures the insurance of any risk or risks through the use of the services of
 555 a full-time employee who acts as an insurance manager, risk manager, or insurance
 556 buyer or through the services of a person licensed as a property and casualty agent,
 557 broker, or counselor in such person's state of domicile;
 558 (B) Whose aggregate annual premiums for insurance on all risks total at least
 559 \$25,000.00; and
 560 (C) Who either:
 561 (i) Has at least 25 full-time employees;
 562 (ii) Has gross assets in excess of \$3 million; or
 563 (iii) Has annual gross revenues in excess of \$5 million.

564 ~~(9)~~(10) 'Industrial insured captive insurance company' means any domestic insurance
 565 company granted a certificate of authority pursuant to this chapter to insure or reinsure
 566 the risks of industrial insureds and their affiliates and which has as its shareholders or
 567 members only industrial insureds that are insured or reinsured by the industrial insured
 568 captive insurance company or which has as its sole shareholder or sole member an entity

569 whose only owners are industrial insureds that are insured or reinsured by the industrial
570 insured captive insurance company.

571 ~~(10)~~(11) 'Mutual insurer' means an incorporated insurer without capital stock or shares
572 that is owned and governed by its policyholders.

573 ~~(11)~~(12) 'Parent' means an entity which directly or indirectly owns, controls, or holds
574 with power to vote more than 50 percent of the total outstanding voting:

575 (A) Securities of a pure captive insurance company organized as a stock corporation;
576 or

577 (B) Membership interests of a pure captive insurance company organized as a limited
578 liability company.

579 ~~(12)~~(13) 'Pure captive insurance company' means any domestic insurance company
580 granted a certificate of authority under this chapter to insure or reinsure the risks of its
581 parent and affiliates of its parent, and controlled unaffiliated business.

582 ~~(13)~~(14) 'Risk retention group captive insurance company' is any domestic insurance
583 company ~~which has been~~ granted a certificate of authority pursuant to this chapter and
584 determined by the Commissioner to be established and maintained as a 'risk retention
585 group' as defined under the federal Liability Risk Retention Act of 1986, as amended.
586 ~~A risk retention group may be chartered and licensed pursuant to this chapter or pursuant~~
587 ~~to Chapter 40 of this title.~~

588 ~~(14)~~(15) 'Stock insurer' means an incorporated insurer with capital divided into shares
589 and owned by its shareholders.

590 ~~(15)~~(16) 'Transact,' as used in this chapter, shall not include the organizational activities
591 associated with the preliminary formation, incorporation, petitioning for a certificate of
592 authority, and initial capitalization of a captive insurance company."

593 **SECTION 2-3.**

594 Said title is further amended in subsection (c) of Code Section 33-41-3, relating to
595 permissible business and limitations, by revising paragraph (1) as follows:

596 "(1) A captive insurance company shall not insure ~~or reinsure~~ any risks resulting from:
597 (A) Any personal, familial, or household responsibilities; or
598 (B) Activities other than risks resulting from responsibilities arising out of any
599 business, whether profit or nonprofit; trade; product; services, including professional
600 or fiduciary services; or commercial premises or commercial operations;"

601 **SECTION 2-4.**

602 Said title is further amended in Code Section 33-41-4, relating to prerequisites to transacting
603 insurance, by revising paragraphs (3) and (4) and adding a new paragraph to read as follows:

604 "(3) Any organization providing the principal administrative or management services to
 605 such captive insurance company shall be approved by the Commissioner; ~~and~~
 606 (4) Its board of directors or board of managers holds at least one meeting each year in
 607 this state; and
 608 (5) It appoints a registered agent to accept service of process in this state, provided that,
 609 whenever such registered agent cannot with reasonable diligence be found at the
 610 registered office of the captive insurance company, the Commissioner shall be an agent
 611 of such captive insurance company upon whom any process, notice, or demand may be
 612 served."

613 SECTION 2-5.

614 Said title is further amended in Code Section 33-41-5, relating to incorporation, by revising
 615 subsection (a) and by adding new subsections to read as follows:

616 "(a) For purposes of this Code section, an incorporated protected cell, as defined in Article
 617 2 of this chapter, shall be included in the definition of 'captive insurance company.'

618 ~~(a)~~(a.1)(1) A pure captive insurance company or an agency captive insurance company
 619 may be incorporated as a stock insurer or organized as a manager-managed limited
 620 liability company.

621 (2) An association captive insurance company, an industrial insured captive insurance
 622 company, a sponsored captive insurance company, or a risk retention group captive
 623 insurance company may be incorporated as a stock insurer, incorporated as a mutual
 624 insurer, or organized as a manager-managed limited liability company.:

625 ~~(A) Incorporated as a stock insurer;~~

626 ~~(B) Incorporated as a mutual insurer; or~~

627 ~~(C) Organized as a manager-managed limited liability company."~~

628 "(h) The effective date of each document set forth in this Code section, including but not
 629 limited to formation documents, amendments to formation documents, merger documents,
 630 conversion documents, and dissolution documents shall be:

631 (1) The date on which the document is filed with the Commissioner; or

632 (2) A date specified by the Commissioner, which shall not precede the date on which the
 633 document was filed with the Commissioner."

634 SECTION 2-6.

635 Said title is further amended by revising subsections (a) through (c) of Code Section 33-41-8,
 636 relating to amount of capital or surplus, as follows:

637 "(a) The amount of minimum capital or surplus required for each captive insurance
 638 company shall be determined on an individual basis, however:

- 639 (1) A pure captive insurance company shall maintain at least \$250,000.00 in surplus;
 640 (2) An association captive insurance company shall maintain at least \$500,000.00 in
 641 surplus;
 642 (3) An agency captive insurance company shall maintain at least \$250,000.00 in surplus;
 643 (4) An industrial insured captive insurance company shall maintain at least \$500,000.00
 644 in surplus; ~~and~~
 645 (5) A risk retention group shall maintain at least \$500,000.00 in surplus; and
 646 (6) A sponsored captive insurance company shall maintain at least \$250,000.00 in
 647 surplus.

648 The Commissioner may require additional capital or surplus of any captive insurance
 649 company in an amount he or she deems appropriate under the circumstances based on the
 650 captive insurance company's business plan as described in ~~paragraph (2) of subsection (a)~~
 651 ~~of~~ Code Section 33-41-10. Additional capital or surplus may be required if the captive
 652 insurance company's business plan indicates that an increase is required in order for the
 653 captive insurance company to meet its contractual obligations to its policyholders or to
 654 maintain its solvency.

655 (b) Minimum capital or surplus of up to \$500,000.00 shall be maintained in any of the
 656 following:

- 657 (1) Cash;
 658 (2) Certificates of deposit or similar certificates or evidences of deposits in banks or trust
 659 companies but only to the extent that the certificates or deposits are insured by the
 660 Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation;
 661 (3) Savings accounts, certificates of deposit, or similar certificates or evidences of
 662 deposit in savings and loan associations and building and loan associations but only to
 663 the extent that the same are insured by the Federal Savings and Loan Insurance
 664 Corporation; or
 665 ~~(4) Promissory notes or other obligations of shareholders secured by one or more letters~~
 666 ~~of credit, as described in~~ One or more letters of credit, so long as they are in conformance
 667 with Code Section 33-41-9.

668 ~~(c) One hundred thousand dollars of the minimum capital or surplus of an~~ Each association
 669 captive insurance company, ~~an~~ industrial insured captive insurance company, ~~or a~~ and risk
 670 retention group captive insurance company must ~~be deposited~~ deposit with the state prior
 671 to the issuance of a certificate of authority."

672 **SECTION 2-7.**

673 Said title is further amended by revising subsection (a) of Code Section 33-41-9, relating to
 674 letters of credit, as follows:

675 "(a) Any letter of credit used to meet the requirements set forth in ~~Code Sections 33-41-8,~~
 676 ~~33-41-12, and 33-41-14~~ this chapter shall be:

- 677 (1) Clean, irrevocable, and unconditional;
 678 (2) Issued by a bank approved by the Commissioner, which is either a bank chartered by
 679 the State of Georgia or a national bank which is a member of the Federal Reserve System;
 680 (3) Presentable and payable within the State of Georgia; and
 681 (4) Provided in conformity with any other requirements established by the
 682 Commissioner."

683 **SECTION 2-8.**

684 Said title is further amended by revising subsections (b) and (d) of Code Section 33-41-10,
 685 relating to application for and issuance of certificate of authority, as follows:

686 "(b) In determining whether to approve an application for an original or renewal certificate
 687 of authority to a captive insurance company, the Commissioner shall examine the
 688 applicable items submitted to him or her pursuant to ~~subsections (a), (e), and (f)~~ of this
 689 Code section. The Commissioner may rely upon and accept the reports of independent
 690 agents who may include licensed insurance counselors, brokers, agents, or adjusters
 691 discussed under Chapter 23 of this title, certified actuarial consultants, certified public
 692 accountants, risk managers, and examiners of insurance companies in order to facilitate his
 693 or her examination of the application for a certificate of authority by a captive insurance
 694 company. The expenses and charges of such independent agents shall be paid directly by
 695 the captive insurance company."

696 "(d) Pursuant to Code Section 33-3-15, if the Commissioner is satisfied that the documents
 697 and statements filed by the captive insurance company in its application for a certificate of
 698 authority comply with the provisions of this chapter, the Commissioner shall promptly
 699 issue a certificate of authority authorizing the captive insurance company to transact
 700 insurance in this state until the thirtieth day of June thereafter. The effective date of such
 701 certificate of authority shall be:

- 702 (1) The date on which the Commissioner is satisfied that the documents and statements
 703 filed by the captive insurance company in its application for a certificate of authority
 704 comply with the provisions of this chapter; or
 705 (2) A date specified by the Commissioner, which shall not precede the date on which the
 706 application for a certificate of authority was first filed with the Commissioner."

707 **SECTION 2-9.**

708 Said title is further amended by revising subsection (c) of Code Section 33-41-19, relating
 709 to rates, underwriting rules, and policy forms and notice on policies, as follows:

710 ~~"(c) Each captive insurance company shall provide the following notice in ten-point type~~
 711 ~~on the front page and declaration page on all policies and on the front page of all~~
 712 ~~applications for policies:~~

713 ~~"This captive insurance company is not subject to all of the insurance laws and regulations~~
 714 ~~of the State of Georgia. State insurers insolvency guaranty funds are not available to the~~
 715 ~~policyholders of this captive insurance company.' Reserved."~~

716 **SECTION 2-10.**

717 Said title is further amended in Code Section 33-41-22, relating to taxation, by revising
 718 paragraphs (4) and (5) and adding a new paragraph to read as follows:

719 "(4) Two or more captive insurance companies under common ownership and control,
 720 other than sponsored captive insurance companies, shall be taxed as though they were a
 721 single captive insurance company. For the purposes of this Code section, the term
 722 'common ownership and control' shall mean the direct or indirect ownership, control or
 723 hold with power to vote more than 50 percent of the outstanding voting securities or
 724 membership interests of two or more such captive insurance companies; and

725 (5) The tax provided for in paragraphs (1) and (2) of this Code section shall be calculated
 726 on an annual basis, notwithstanding policies or contracts of insurance or contracts of
 727 reinsurance issued on a multiyear basis. In the case of multiyear policies or contracts, the
 728 premium shall be prorated for purposes of determining the tax due; and

729 (6)(A) For purposes of this Code section, a protected cell, as defined in Article 2 of this
 730 chapter, shall be included in the definition of a 'captive insurance company.'

731 (B) The common ownership and control aggregation rules set forth in paragraph (4) of
 732 this Code section shall apply to each individual protected cell with respect to the
 733 participant or participants of such individual protected cell.

734 (C) Notwithstanding any other provision of this Code section, a sponsored captive
 735 insurance company shall be responsible for collecting and remitting taxes due from its
 736 protected cells."

737 **SECTION 2-11.**

738 Said title is further amended by repealing Code Section 33-41-23, relating to rules and
 739 regulations, and enacting a new Code Section 33-41-23 to read as follows:

740 "33-41-23.

741 (a) A captive insurance company that meets the definition of a dormant captive insurance
 742 company set forth in this chapter may apply to the Commissioner for a certificate of
 743 dormancy on a form or forms as may be prescribed by the Commissioner.

744 (b) A dormant captive insurance company that has been issued a certificate of dormancy
 745 pursuant to this Code section shall:

746 (1) Possess and thereafter maintain unimpaired, paid-in-capital and surplus of at least
 747 \$25,000.00;

748 (2) Submit to the Commissioner a report of its financial condition on or before March
 749 1 of each year on a form or in a manner as prescribed by the Commissioner;

750 (3) Renew such certificate every five years by submitting documentation as prescribed
 751 by the Commissioner and paying a renewal fee of \$500.00; and

752 (4) Be subject to an examination pursuant to Code Section 33-41-16 in the discretion of
 753 the Commissioner.

754 (c) A dormant captive insurance company that has been issued a certificate of dormancy
 755 pursuant to this Code section shall not:

756 (1) Be subject to or liable for the payment of any tax pursuant to Code Section 33-41-22;
 757 or

758 (2) Be required to submit any annual forms, fees, or documents that are otherwise
 759 required by this chapter, other than those required pursuant to this Code section.

760 (d) The Commissioner may, upon written request, declare a captive insurance company
 761 to be dormant for purposes of this Code section even if such captive insurance company
 762 retains liabilities associated with policies written or assumed, provided that such captive
 763 insurance company has otherwise ceased the transaction of insurance business. However,
 764 in this case, the Commissioner may, in his or her discretion, require such captive insurance
 765 company to possess and maintain unimpaired, paid-in-capital and surplus and reserves
 766 greater than that required by this Code section.

767 (e) A certificate of dormancy shall be revoked if a captive insurance company no longer
 768 meets the definition of a dormant captive insurance company or fails to meet the
 769 requirements as set forth in this Code section.

770 (f) A dormant captive insurance company shall apply to the Commissioner for approval
 771 and shall be granted such approval to surrender its certificate of dormancy and resume
 772 conducting the business of insurance prior to issuing any insurance policies and shall pay
 773 an application fee as prescribed by the Commissioner.

774 (g) Any provisions of this title which are inconsistent with the provisions of this Code
 775 section shall not apply to dormant captive insurance companies."

776 **SECTION 2-12.**

777 Said title is further amended by repealing Code Section 33-41-24, relating to inapplicability
 778 of inconsistent provisions, and enacting a new Code Section 33-41-24 to read as follows:

779 "33-41-24.
 780 The Commissioner may adopt rules establishing standards to ensure that a pure captive
 781 insurance company's parent or any of its affiliated companies is able to exercise control of
 782 the risk management function of any controlled unaffiliated business to be insured by the
 783 pure captive insurance company; provided, however, that, until such time as rules under
 784 this Code section are adopted, the Commissioner may approve or deny the coverage of
 785 such risks by a pure captive insurance company on a case by case basis."

786 **SECTION 2-13.**

787 Said title is further amended by adding new Code sections to read as follows:

788 "33-41-25.
 789 The Commissioner may establish such rules and regulations and issue such interpretive
 790 rulings as may be necessary to carry out the provisions of this chapter.

791 33-41-26.
 792 Any provisions of this title which are inconsistent with the provisions of this chapter shall
 793 not apply to captive insurance companies; provided, however, that pure and agency captive
 794 insurance companies shall not be subject to the requirements of Chapter 13 of this title."

795 **SECTION 2-14.**

796 Said title is further amended in Chapter 41 by adding a new article to read as follows:

797 "ARTICLE 2

798 33-41-100.
 799 In addition to the general provisions of Article 1 of this chapter, the provisions of this
 800 article shall apply to sponsored captive insurance companies.

801 33-41-101.
 802 As used in this article, the term:
 803 (1) 'General account' means all the assets and liabilities of a sponsored captive insurance
 804 company that are not attributable to a protected cell.
 805 (2) 'Incorporated protected cell' means a protected cell that is established as a stock
 806 corporation or manager-managed limited liability company separate from the sponsored
 807 captive insurance company of which it is a part.
 808 (3) 'Participant' means a person, and any affiliates thereof, that is insured or reinsured by
 809 a sponsored captive insurance company, where the losses of the participant are limited

810 through a participant contract to such participant's protected cell assets or to the pro rata
 811 share of the assets of one or more protected cells that are identified in such participant
 812 contract.

813 (4) 'Participant contract' means a contract by which a sponsored captive insurance
 814 company insures or reinsures the risks of a participant, or the controlled unaffiliated
 815 business thereof, and limits the losses to the participant's protected cell assets or to the
 816 pro rata share of the assets of one or more protected cells that are identified in such
 817 participant contract.

818 (5) 'Protected cell' means a separate and distinct account or accounts established by a
 819 sponsored captive insurance company in which an identified pool of assets are maintained
 820 for one or more participants in accordance with the terms of one or more participant
 821 contracts to fund the liability of the sponsored captive insurance company insured or
 822 assumed on behalf of such participants as set forth in such participant contracts. A
 823 protected cell may be an incorporated protected cell or an unincorporated protected cell.

824 (6) 'Protected cell assets' means all assets, contract rights, and general intangibles
 825 identified with and attributable to a specific protected cell that may not be used to pay any
 826 expenses or claims other than those attributable to such protected cell.

827 (7) 'Protected cell liability' means all liabilities and other obligations identified with and
 828 attributable to a specific protected cell.

829 (8) 'Sponsor' means any person, other than a risk retention group, that is approved by the
 830 Commissioner, in the exercise of his or her sole discretion, to organize and operate a
 831 sponsored captive insurance company and to provide all or part of its required capital and
 832 surplus.

833 (9) 'Sponsored captive insurance company' means any domestic stock insurer or
 834 manager-managed limited liability company formed by one or more sponsors having
 835 been granted a certificate of authority pursuant to this chapter that:

836 (A) May only be owned by its participants and sponsors, unless the Commissioner has
 837 authorized the issuance of nonvoting securities to other persons:

838 (B) Maintains at least \$250,000.00 in capital and surplus subject to Code Section
 839 33-41-8, which shall at all times be available to pay any expenses of or claims against
 840 it;

841 (C) May only insure or reinsure the risks of its participants, or the controlled
 842 unaffiliated business thereof, in accordance with separate participant contracts;

843 (D) Funds its liabilities to each participant through one or more protected cells and
 844 keeps the protected cell assets and protected cell liabilities of each protected cell
 845 segregated from the general account and from the protected cell assets and protected
 846 cell liabilities of other protected cells; and

847 (E) Establishes administrative and accounting procedures necessary to allocate,
848 identify, separate, and segregate the protected cell assets, protected cell liabilities,
849 insurance and reinsurance obligations, assets, credits, liabilities, losses, tax benefits and
850 refunds attributable to the protected cells.

851 (10) 'Unincorporated protected cell' means a protected cell that is not itself a legal entity
852 separate from the sponsored captive insurance company of which it is a part.

853 33-41-102.

854 (a) A sponsored captive insurance company may establish one or more protected cells if
855 the Commissioner has approved in writing a business plan, or an amendment to such plan,
856 with respect to each protected cell that includes information about the participant, the
857 associated participant contract or contracts, and any other information requested by the
858 Commissioner.

859 (b) No participant contract shall take effect without the Commissioner's prior written
860 approval. The addition of each new protected cell, the withdrawal of any current
861 participant, or the termination of any existing protected cell shall constitute a change in the
862 business plan of the sponsored captive insurance company and shall require the
863 Commissioner's prior written approval.

864 (c) Each sponsored captive insurance company shall annually file with the Commissioner
865 such financial reports as he or she shall require. Any such financial report shall include,
866 without limitation, accounting statements detailing the financial experience of each
867 protected cell.

868 (d) Each sponsored captive insurance company shall notify the Commissioner in writing
869 within ten business days of any protected cell becoming insolvent or otherwise unable to
870 meet its claim, expense, insurance, or reinsurance obligations.

871 33-41-103.

872 (a) A sponsored captive insurance company licensed under this chapter may establish and
873 maintain one or more protected cells to insure or reinsure risks subject to the provisions,
874 terms, and conditions set forth in this chapter, and it is the intent of the General Assembly
875 to provide sponsored captive insurance companies with the option to establish one or more
876 protected cells as incorporated protected cells without limiting any rights or protections
877 applicable to unincorporated protected cells.

878 (b) The creation of a protected cell pursuant to this chapter does not create, with respect
879 to such protected cell, a legal person separate from the sponsored captive insurance
880 company of which it is a part unless such protected cell is an incorporated protected cell.

881 (c) In addition to the provisions required by subparagraphs (c)(1)(B) and (c)(1)(C) of Code
882 Section 33-41-5, an incorporated protected cell must also include the following in its
883 formation documents:

884 (1) A reference to the sponsored captive insurance company of which it will be a part;
885 and

886 (2) A statement that the entity is a protected cell incorporated for the limited purposes
887 authorized by the sponsored captive insurance company's certificate of authority.

888 (d) An incorporated protected cell shall not use any name that is either similar, misleading,
889 or confusing with respect to any other name already in use by any other entity doing
890 business in this state.

891 (e) An incorporated protected cell shall be entitled to enter into contracts and undertake
892 obligations in its own name and for its own account unless prohibited by an applicable
893 participant contract. In the case of a contract or obligation undertaken directly by an
894 incorporated protected cell to which the sponsored captive insurance company is not a
895 party, either in its own name and for its own account or on behalf of a protected cell, the
896 counterparts to the contract or obligation shall have no right or recourse against the
897 sponsored captive insurance company, any other protected cell not a party to such contract
898 or obligation or any assets other than against assets properly attributable to the incorporated
899 protected cell that is a party to the contract or obligation.

900 33-41-104.

901 (a) All attributions of assets and liabilities to the protected cells and the general account
902 shall be made by the sponsored captive insurance company in accordance with the business
903 plan and applicable participant contracts as approved by the Commissioner, and unless the
904 sponsor consents and the Commissioner has granted prior written approval, the general
905 account shall not be used to pay any expenses or claims attributed solely to a protected cell.

906 (b) When establishing a protected cell, the sponsored captive insurance company shall
907 attribute to the protected cell assets with a value at least equal to the reserves and other
908 insurance liabilities attributable to such protected cell in cash or in readily marketable
909 securities with established market value.

910 (c) Amounts attributable to a protected cell under this chapter are owned by the protected
911 cell. No sponsored captive insurance company shall be, or hold itself out to be, a trustee
912 with respect to those protected cell assets of such protected cell account. Notwithstanding
913 this subsection, the sponsored captive insurance company may allow for a security interest
914 to attach to protected cell assets when in favor of a creditor of the protected cell and
915 otherwise allowable under applicable law.

916 (d) Each protected cell shall be accounted for separately on the books and records of the
917 sponsored captive insurance company to reflect each protected cell's financial condition
918 and results of operations, net income or loss, dividends or other distributions to
919 participants, and such other factors regarding each protected cell as may be provided in the
920 applicable participant contract or required by the Commissioner.

921 (e) The assets of a protected cell shall not be chargeable with liabilities of any other
922 protected cell or, unless otherwise agreed in the applicable participant contract, of the
923 sponsored captive insurance company generally.

924 (f) No sale, exchange, transfer of assets, dividend, or distribution, other than a transaction
925 in accordance with the applicable participant contract, may be made with respect to a
926 protected cell by or to a sponsored captive insurance company or participant without the
927 Commissioner's written approval. In no event shall such approval be given if the sale,
928 exchange, transfer, dividend, or distribution would result in the insolvency or impairment
929 of a protected cell.

930 (g) The remedy of tracing is applicable to protected cell assets if they are commingled with
931 protected cell assets of other protected cells or the general account in violation of this
932 article and any applicable participant contracts. The remedy of tracing shall not be
933 construed as an exclusive remedy.

934 (h) The sponsored captive insurance company shall attribute all insurance obligations,
935 assets, and liabilities relating to a reinsurance contract entered into with respect to a
936 protected cell to such protected cell as set forth in the business plan and participant
937 contracts approved by the Commissioner, which may include a tax allocation agreement
938 to which the sponsored captive insurance company is a party.

939 (i) Notwithstanding any other provision of this chapter, the assets of two or more protected
940 cells may be combined for purposes of investment, and such combination shall not be
941 construed as defeating the segregation of such assets for accounting or other purposes.

942 (j) Notwithstanding any other provisions of this title, sponsored captive insurance
943 companies shall not be subject to any restrictions on eligible investments whatever;
944 however, the Commissioner may prohibit or limit any investment that threatens the
945 solvency or liquidity of any sponsored captive insurance company.

946 (k) If required by the Commissioner, in his or her discretion, the business written by a
947 sponsored captive insurance company, with respect to each protected cell, shall be:

948 (1) Fronted by an insurance company licensed pursuant to the laws of any state;

949 (2) Reinsured by a reinsurer authorized or approved by the Commissioner; or

950 (3) Secured by a trust fund in the United States for the benefit of participants,
951 policyholders, and claimants or funded by an irrevocable letter of credit or other
952 arrangement that is acceptable to the Commissioner. The Commissioner, in his or her

953 sole discretion, shall approve the form, terms, and funding amount of any trust, and may
 954 require the sponsored captive insurance company to increase the funding of any security
 955 arrangement established under this chapter. If the form of security is a letter of credit, the
 956 letter of credit must be in conformance with Code Section 33-41-9 and approved by the
 957 Commissioner.

958 33-41-105.

959 (a) In connection with the conservation, rehabilitation, or liquidation of captive insurance
 960 companies set forth in Code Section 33-41-21, including sponsored captive insurance
 961 companies, the assets and liabilities of a protected cell shall at all times be kept separate
 962 from, and shall not be commingled with, those of other protected cells and the sponsored
 963 captive insurance company except to the extent that the assets and liabilities of any one or
 964 more protected cells are determined to have not been allocated, segregated, and separated
 965 pursuant to the business plan and participant contracts approved by the Commissioner, and
 966 which are subject to the tracing provisions set forth in this article.

967 (b) Notwithstanding the provisions of this title, in the event of the insolvency of a
 968 sponsored captive insurance company where the Commissioner determines that one or
 969 more protected cells remain solvent, the Commissioner may separate such cells from the
 970 sponsored captive insurance company and may allow, on application of the sponsored
 971 captive insurance company or participant, for the conversion of such protected cells into
 972 one or more new or existing other captive insurance companies.

973 33-41-106.

974 All provisions set forth in subsection (c) of Code Section 33-41-16 shall also apply to
 975 sponsored captive insurance companies in the same manner."

976 **SECTION 2-15.**

977 Said title is further amended by revising subsection (c) of Code Section 33-1-17, relating to
 978 the Special Insurance Fraud Fund, as follows:

979 "(c)(1) The Commissioner shall prepare, on an annual basis, a separate budget request
 980 to the General Assembly which sets forth the anticipated cost and expense of funding the
 981 investigation and prosecution of insurance fraud in this state for the ensuing 12 months.
 982 Beginning with the year 1997, such budget request shall set forth the annual cost and
 983 expense of the investigation and prosecution of insurance fraud in Georgia for the
 984 preceding 12 months.

985 (2) There is imposed upon each foreign, alien, and domestic insurance company doing
 986 business in the state an annual assessment under a formula to be established by regulation

987 promulgated by the Commissioner. The formula shall be calculated such that the total
 988 proceeds paid or collected from such assessments for any year shall not exceed the
 989 amounts appropriated by the General Assembly pursuant to paragraph (3) of this
 990 subsection, which appropriation shall be based upon the budget request setting forth the
 991 applicable annual cost and expense of the investigation and prosecution of insurance
 992 fraud in Georgia submitted by the Commissioner. Such assessments may be measured
 993 by kind of company, kind of insurance, income, volume of transactions, or such other
 994 factors as the Commissioner determines appropriate. Assessments shall be due and
 995 payable for each calendar quarter at the times specified in subsection (b) of Code Section
 996 33-8-6. Any insurance company which fails to report and pay any installment of such
 997 assessment shall be subject to penalties and interest as provided by subsection (d) of Code
 998 Section 33-8-6. The Commissioner shall provide by regulation for such other terms and
 999 conditions for the payment or collection of such assessments as may be necessary to
 1000 ensure the proper payment and collection thereof. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the
 1001 provisions of this Code section shall not apply to an agency captive insurance company,
 1002 dormant captive insurance company, industrial insured captive insurance company,
 1003 sponsored captive insurance company (including a protected cell thereof), or pure captive
 1004 insurance company. Foreign and alien captive insurance companies doing business in
 1005 Georgia shall, however, pay a fixed amount of \$100.00 per year into the Special
 1006 Insurance Fraud Fund without regard to the amount of the Georgia premium written by
 1007 such foreign or alien captive. No additional amount shall be assessed against the foreign
 1008 or alien captive insurance company.

1009 (3) The General Assembly may appropriate to the Insurance Department funds for the
 1010 investigation of insurance fraud and for the funding of the prosecution of insurance fraud.
 1011 The Commissioner is authorized to use such funds for investigation of insurance fraud
 1012 and to reimburse prosecuting attorneys for some or all of the costs of retaining assistant
 1013 prosecuting attorneys to prosecute insurance fraud cases. The Commissioner shall
 1014 provide by regulation for such other terms and conditions for the use of the funds for the
 1015 investigation, reimbursement, and prosecution contemplated by the terms of this
 1016 paragraph."

1017 **PART III**

1018 **SECTION 3-1.**

1019 All laws and parts of laws in conflict with this Act are repealed.